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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Good afternoon,

          3  everybody. I am Council Member Erik Martin Dilan and

          4  the Chair of the Housing and Buildings Committee. I

          5  will take a brief moment to acknowledge my

          6  colleagues who are here and I'm sure some more of

          7  the members of the Committee will be joining us as

          8  we proceed with the hearing. To the far left, I have

          9  Council Member Rosie Mendez from Manhattan; Council

         10  Member Jimmy Vacca.  Welcome to the Committee.  The

         11  newest of the Housing and Buildings Committee, James

         12  Vacca.  Council Member Joel Rivera, the Majority

         13  Leader from the Bronx, and Council Member Tony

         14  Avella from Queens.

         15                 Today the Committee will conduct a

         16  hearing on Intro 340-A, a local law to amend the

         17  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         18  relation to notification of intent to demolish

         19  certain rent-regulated housing accommodations. Intro

         20  340 would require the Department of Buildings to

         21  notify Community Boards and Council Members upon

         22  approval of a demolition or Alteration permit for a

         23  property whose owner intends to apply for permission

         24  to evict rent-regulated tenants with the State

         25  Division of Housing and Community Renewal.
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          2                 Additionally, a building owner when

          3  applying for demolition or alteration permit with

          4  DOB for these purposes would have to acknowledge

          5  that he or she is intending to file with DHCR

          6  because of rent-regulated tenants in the subject

          7  building. I would like to note for the record that

          8  the Committee has a received a letter from DHCR in

          9  support of the proposed legislation.

         10                 The letter further states that DHCR

         11  would willingly work with the Department of

         12  Buildings and any other City agency to implement the

         13  proposed amendment to the code.

         14                 At this time, I would like to say

         15  again if anyone wishes to testify on this hearing

         16  today, please see Sergeant-at-Arms and fill out a

         17  notification form.  And I would also like to again

         18  welcome Council Member Vacca to the Housing and

         19  Buildings Committee.

         20                 At this time, I'll turn it over to

         21  the bill's sponsor, Council Member Rosie Mendez, for

         22  a brief opening statement.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you,

         24  Chairman Dilan, and thank you for your leadership in

         25  this Committee and for holding a hearing on this
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          2  bill. I introduced this legislation in May of 2006

          3  as phony demolitions were popping up across my

          4  district and across the City. From the Lower East

          5  Side to the West Side and to Williamsburg Brooklyn,

          6  landlords were using this as another tool to harass

          7  and evict rent stabilized tenants. For those of you

          8  who don't know, phony demolitions as the name

          9  implies, is not a demolition at all. It takes place

         10  when landlords claim they are demolishing a

         11  building, but in reality they are just doing

         12  substantial renovations to the building.

         13                 Originally, the demolition provision

         14  was created by the State legislature to demolish old

         15  dilapidated and dangerous housing and replace it

         16  with new safe housing. This law was intended to

         17  allow for the eviction of tenants only when a

         18  building was being raised to the ground. Under the

         19  Pataki Administration, the Division of Housing

         20  Community Renewal allowed demolitions to be defined

         21  as substantial renovations and gave landlords

         22  permission to evict rent- stabilized tenants once

         23  building plans were filed and approved.

         24                 Landlord law firms started promoting

         25  this tactic as they recognized this was the easiest
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          2  and cheapest method of evicting rent stabilized

          3  tenants, a course to accepting a buy out. This issue

          4  came to my attention when tenants from my district

          5  alerting my office to their problem. Some of them

          6  early enough where we could intervene, but others

          7  where it was too late. What we were seeing was that

          8  many landlords never planned to do the demolition

          9  work, but when tenants with limited legal

         10  sophistication sometimes, the elderly, received from

         11  DHCR the landlords application to evict, they

         12  panicked and quickly accepted a buy out.

         13                 If these tenants had someone who

         14  could provide advice, advocate for them, or help

         15  them obtain legal representation, whether it be

         16  through the elected official or a community board,

         17  they might have stayed in their homes and the City

         18  might have preserved several units of affordable

         19  housing. No tenant should lose their home without

         20  being given proper notice. That's what this bill

         21  would ensure. If you are an owner and you file for

         22  an Alt 1 permit or demolition permit with the

         23  Department of Buildings, you would need to check a

         24  box if you plan to file with DHCR to evict a rent-

         25  regulated tenant.
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          2                 If the box is checked, then DOB will

          3  send a notice to the local community board and the

          4  elected official letting them know that this was

          5  happening. It wouldn't stop a landlord from doing

          6  anything that is legally allowable and it would

          7  place a minimal burden on the Department of

          8  Buildings. To be fair under the Spitzer

          9  Administration, DHCR has taken some great steps in

         10  the right direction and I commend the new

         11  Commissioner, Deborah VanAmerongen, for her

         12  dedicated work and for the work thus far on this

         13  issue.

         14                 Nevertheless, even if DHCR decides to

         15  utilize a proper definition of demolition, some

         16  owners might use the applications alone as a method

         17  of harassing tenants into buy outs or some owners

         18  might raise a building to the ground and evict

         19  tenants. The threat is used in conjunction with

         20  dangerous construction methods and other forms of

         21  harassment that elected officials should be aware

         22  of. Whatever happens, the tenant should have someone

         23  who can get the facts, provide sound advice and

         24  advocate for them and that's what this bill would

         25  do. Thank you very much. I look forward to everyone
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          2  on this Committee supporting this bill.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Mendez. The first witness the Committee will

          5  hear from is Mr. Stephen Kramer. He is the Senior

          6  Counsel at the New York City Department of

          7  Buildings. Mr. Kramer, welcome and even though I

          8  have stated your name for the record, you have to do

          9  so in your own voice before your proceed.

         10                 MR. KRAMER: Stephen Kramer. I am the

         11  Senior Counsel at the Department of Buildings and I

         12  want to thank you and members of the Housing and

         13  Building Committee for the opportunity to comment on

         14  Intro 340, relating to notification of intent to

         15  alter or demolish rent- regulated housing

         16  accommodations in the City.

         17                 Obviously, we are all concerned with

         18  the extremely limited availability of affordable

         19  housing in the City. The demolition or deregulation

         20  of rent- regulated units is certainly a factor that

         21  requires attention. The recent events concerning

         22  Stuyvesant Town, Mitchell- Lama projects and news

         23  stories of the proposed sale of Starrett City that

         24  could lead to deregulation of rental units; all

         25  propose a potential enormous burden that
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          2  deregulation can present to tenants who would face

          3  rent increases or evictions. These raise significant

          4  issues that be should addressed. Prior notification

          5  of planned or impending regulation we are sure,

          6  could be a useful tool to allow some breathing room

          7  into what could be a time sensitive issue for the

          8  tenants involved.

          9                 Currently, Sections 27- 142(b) and

         10  27- 168(b) of the Building Code require that an

         11  owner of occupied rent controlled units notify the

         12  City Rent Agency, whose functions are now performed

         13  by the New York State Department of Housing and

         14  Community Renewal, of the intention to apply for an

         15  alteration or demolition permit and that all

         16  requirements imposed by that agency have been met as

         17  a precondition for the application.

         18                 The bill before you would essentially

         19  extend that requirement to all rent- regulated

         20  housing, not just rent- controlled housing. We would

         21  support such a requirement. Indeed, it is included

         22  in our new construction codes, Title 28 of the

         23  Administrative Code, which you passed last July.

         24  That law contains the following language:

         25                 Section 28- 104.8.1 Applicant
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          2  statements. The application (is for a building

          3  permit) shall contain the following signed and

          4  sealed statements by the applicant. 2. A statement

          5  certifying (i) that the site of the building to be

          6  altered or demolished, or the site of the new

          7  building to be constructed, contains no occupied

          8  housing accommodations subject to rent control or

          9  rent stabilization under Chapters 3 and 4 of Title

         10  26 of the Administrative Code, or (ii) that the

         11  owner has notified the New York State Division of

         12  Housing and Community Renewal of the owner's

         13  intention to file such plans and has complied with

         14  all requirements imposed by the regulations of such

         15  agency as preconditions for such filing,; or (iii)

         16  that the owner has not notified such agency of the

         17  owner's intention to file because the nature and

         18  scope of the work proposed, pursuant to such

         19  regulations, does not require notification. That

         20  would be for minor work, minor alterations.

         21                 The Department enforces the existing

         22  notification requirement when the applicant applies

         23  for an alteration or demolition permit. We do this

         24  by requiring the applicant to certify that notice

         25  has been given to the rent agency. There is no
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          2  policy reason that we are aware of to differentiate

          3  between the two types of housing, rent control and

          4  rent stabilized. This provision will go into effect

          5  on July 1, 2008.

          6                 Additionally, Intro 340 as currently

          7  drafted would require that the Department of

          8  Buildings notify the appropriate community board and

          9  Council Member of the filing of the alteration or

         10  demolition application. In our view, applicants

         11  should bear the costs and administrative burdens

         12  imposed by a proposed development, not the

         13  Department. In other words, the applicant should

         14  provide that notification directly to the affected

         15  community board and Council Member. I would be glad

         16  to answer any questions you have with regards to

         17  this testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Just let me say at

         19  the outset that I'm pleased to hear the general tone

         20  of support from the Buildings Department regarding

         21  this issue. I think members of the Committee were

         22  aware that this will go into effect when the new

         23  code takes effect in July, but we still have a

         24  current building code that we are working with and

         25  we certainly would like to see some protection for
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          2  the citizens of the City between now and that time.

          3                 I just would like to start off with

          4  some statistical information regarding application

          5  permits. How many application permits for demolition

          6  work does DOB receive on an average year and do you

          7  have a break down per borough with you?

          8                 MR. KRAMER: I don't have that at my

          9  fingertips. I know that it is quite substantial, but

         10  we can get that information for you. I don't think

         11  we can break it down because we wouldn't have the

         12  information as to rent- stabilized versus rent-

         13  controlled versus other types of housing. But we can

         14  certainly get you the number of the demolition

         15  permits filed let's say for fiscal years '06 and

         16   '07.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We would certainly

         18  like that information. I guess the same for major

         19  alterations, same question.

         20                 MR. KRAMER: Yes, we can get that. We

         21  are talking about very large numbers once you get

         22  into the alteration area in excess of, I would

         23  think, 70,000 a year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: You stated that it

         25  would be tough for you to filter out rent-
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          2  regulated/rent- stabilized buildings in that data?

          3                 MR. KRAMER: I don't believe that we

          4  can do that, but I will certainly inquire.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Just overall, does

          6  the Department of Buildings, are you guys planning

          7  any changes on the application for alteration and

          8  demolition permits in the near future and if so,

          9  what are those changes?

         10                 MR. KRAMER: We certainly have been

         11  having discussions about that internally and I

         12  believe with the staff of several of the Council

         13  Members and we don't have any imminent plans, but we

         14  are involved in discussions of that. It has a

         15  significant implications for the Department, both

         16  from a computer point of view, an application point

         17  of view and actually it also has some financial

         18  implications as well for there are different fee

         19  schedules for the two.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'm certainly glad

         21  to see that the Department recognizes that this is a

         22  problem. It is a problem in some of the hottest

         23  areas of the City where rent- stabilized tenants

         24  live that is a concern for the Committee. At this

         25  time, if any of my colleagues have any questions, I
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          2  would imagine that some of them do, I would

          3  certainly like to open it up. I'll start with the

          4  bill sponsor, Council Member Mendez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

          6  much. I am happy to hear that the agency is

          7  supportive of the proposed legislation. In your

          8  testimony, you say applicants should bear the cost

          9  and administrative burdens imposed by a proposed

         10  development not the Department. What exactly do you

         11  mean by administrative burdens?

         12                 MR. KRAMER: Currently, when the

         13  function of what we would normally do, let's say

         14  that there was a requirement that someone be

         15  notified, for example, whether it be DHCR, whether

         16  it be HPD, whether or it be any agency of government

         17  or elective official, our normal process would be to

         18  require that the applicant either certify that he or

         19  she has provided that notification or provided proof

         20  to us of that notification.

         21                 In that way, the clerk who is

         22  reviewing the application doesn't have to spend time

         23  trying to figure out who the Council Member is or

         24  what agency it has to go to or what the e- mail

         25  address or post office, whatever is. It seems to us
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          2  that is the efficient and standardized way of

          3  getting notice and making sure that the notice has

          4  been given and it is also something that we can

          5  enforce, because if there is inaccurate information

          6  given to us, if someone certifies that he is given

          7  such information and in fact that's wrong, we can

          8  invalidate the application. We could revoke the

          9  permit.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I'm sorry,

         11  there was a little noise here. I didn't hear the

         12  ending of your statement. That if the applicant does

         13  not do so, what?

         14                 MR. KRAMER: Let's assume the

         15  applicant said that he had notified DHCR and in fact

         16  he hadn't notified DHCR and we received a complaint

         17  to that effect, we could revoke the permit that had

         18  been granted on the basis of their wrong

         19  information. So it seems to us that is the standard

         20  way that we enforce these requirements. We already

         21  have a large number of required items that we

         22  require the applicant to provide for us. We could

         23  add this, for example, to that list of required

         24  items and that way the clerk wouldn't have to stop

         25  what he or she is doing to make sure that
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          2  notification had been given by identifying the right

          3  e- mail address in the government agency. We would

          4  rather require the applicant to submit to us proof

          5  that he or she had actually done the required

          6  notification.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Currently if

          8  an applicant misstates by saying they have notified

          9  DHCR and they really didn't, the administrative

         10  remedy is to revoke the permit. Is there any other

         11  penalties?

         12                 MR. KRAMER: Yes, if any false

         13  certification could lead to various significant

         14  penalties. If indeed it were submitted by as most

         15  applications are, by an architect or an engineer, we

         16  could revoke that architect or engineers privilege

         17  to file documents with the Department.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Let me ask

         19  you, when you have found out that someone misstated

         20  the truth and did not notify DHCR, how have you

         21  found that out in the past?

         22                 MR. KRAMER: I actually am not aware

         23  of receiving complaints on that specific item. I

         24  couldn't tell you of how we had reacted. This was a

         25  new item for us and not one that we have received a
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          2  large number of complaints of the failure to notify.

          3  We have certainly heard complaints over issues

          4  regarding this loop hole which allows the inferior

          5  demolition, let's say, of rent- stabilized units.

          6  But I have not seen any incidents and that's not to

          7  say they haven't happened. But I am not familiar

          8  with any incidents in which an applicant stated that

          9  DHCR had been notified and in fact they had not been

         10  notified.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I'm just

         12  concerned that would not put the necessary

         13  precautions in place that I'm trying to address. If

         14  an owner/developer does not check off the box and

         15  misstates that they informed the local elected

         16  official, we may not find out until it is too late

         17  or in many cases, like I said, the issue was brought

         18  to us by the tenants. And in many cases it was too

         19  late. I'm afraid the damage may be done by the time

         20  we find out.

         21                 MR. KRAMER: On the other hand, the

         22  Department of Buildings would not know that the

         23  application is subject to a rent- stabilization or

         24  rent- control other than through the affirmation of

         25  the applicant. There is no data base that we have
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          2  that we could check to see whether or not in fact a

          3  building or a unit is rent- controlled or rent-

          4  stabilized.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: That is

          6  currently the case with rent- controlled units as

          7  well?

          8                 MR. KRAMER: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: What other

         10  manner or what efficient system do you think could

         11  be put in place to try to curtail this abuse where

         12  it might mean interagency collaboration which has

         13  been done before?

         14                 MR. KRAMER: I do think the

         15  notification system has worked and I say to my

         16  knowledge, I haven't had complaints that it hasn't

         17  worked in the past. I suppose at some point in the

         18  future if there were someway to mark on the building

         19  information system every building or every property

         20  which contained a stabilized unit, it would be

         21  possible to perhaps to do it in a more automated

         22  fashion by the Buildings Department. As I think you

         23  know, there are 950,000 properties on the building

         24  information system. We are right now working closely

         25  with City Planning trying to get the zoning
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          2  information on each of those.

          3                 I would think it would be a heavy if

          4  to get the rent- stabilized, rent- controlled or

          5  rent- regulated status to those properties end, but

          6  if such a list were created, it might be possible to

          7  do so. My understanding is that even with individual

          8  buildings, there are sometimes rent- stabilized

          9  units or rent- regulated units and non- regulated

         10  units. So you would have to know within each

         11  apartment whether or not if a regulated and that's a

         12  level of detail which the Building Information

         13  System does not possess.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Currently, as

         15  the legislation is drafted, we're asking for a box

         16  to be checked off. You mentioned the owner would

         17  sign a statement or something. Would that be like

         18  filing a separate notice or do you think checking

         19  off of a box is --

         20                 MR. KRAMER: Well, there is a check

         21  off of a box, but then at the bottom of the form

         22  which we call the PW1 form which is the application

         23  form, there is a certification on that form that the

         24  information on the application is correct. That's as

         25  you say can be signed by the owner, it could be
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          2  signed by a licensed professional at significant

          3  risk of filing a false document with us.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: If I could

          5  just ask you, how often does the Department amend

          6  these forms as PW1?

          7                 MR. KRAMER: I'm sorry, how often?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Do you amend

          9  your forms? Do you revise and amend your forms as

         10  necessary?

         11                 MR. KRAMER: It depends. There are

         12  some major changes and there are minor changes. The

         13  amendment of the form itself is not what is

         14  significant, it is whether or not there are

         15  consequences within the computer system that go

         16  along with the amendment of the form. We are

         17  constantly upgrading the Building Information System

         18  as I think you know and we are adding information to

         19  that all the time, but we try not to amend the PW1

         20  form too often because generally it does involve

         21  additional programming.

         22                 We are currently involved in some

         23  very major projects, perhaps the most important of

         24  which is what we call b- scan where we are scanning

         25  all the documents associated with an application and
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          2  permit. Virtually all the documents and certainly

          3  all the documents that go along with this PW1 that

          4  will enable elected officials and members of the

          5  public to view applications from their computers at

          6  home. They don't even have to come to the Buildings

          7  Department. You would be able to tell, for example,

          8  if the PW1 form on 280 Broadway did not indicate

          9  that there was rent- regulated apartments in it and

         10  you knew for a fact that there were rent- regulated

         11  apartments in it, you could bring that to our

         12  attention.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: One last

         14  question, Mr. Chairman. What we have been seeing in

         15  our community with these phony demolitions that

         16  owners get demolition plans approved and then

         17  actually don't do the work but use their approved

         18  plans to convince tenants to move out. Is there any

         19  system in place when a permit is issued to determine

         20  that they are actually doing the work with the

         21  permit?

         22                 MR. KRAMER: Well, a permit is under

         23  the building code. A permit is valid for a maximum

         24  of, I believe, generally one year due to be expanded

         25  I think to two years under the amended code or the
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          2  expiration of the applicant's insurance, whichever

          3  comes first. Because there are fees associated with

          4  filing a permit, generally applicants have an

          5  incentive to act on it. Also, for example, there is

          6  a law change or a zoning change that occurs,

          7  meanwhile the expiration of the permit can be a very

          8  serious event. Generally, most applicants do act on

          9  approved permits. But you are absolutely right, not

         10  all do for any variety of reasons including the type

         11  that you just mentioned.

         12                 I don't know. I mean we basically,

         13  our fees are designed to cover our costs so I don't

         14  think we could impose a penalty on an applicant who

         15  filed a permit application and then didn't act on

         16  it. I think that would present some legal issues. We

         17  do certainly enforce the expiration dates and the

         18  renewal charges and what have you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, Council

         22  Member Mendez. I just also want to acknowledge that

         23  we have been joined by the minority leader, James

         24  Oddo from Staten Island as well as Council Member

         25  Louis Fidler of Brooklyn. Do any of my other
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          2  colleagues have any questions? Council Member Vacca.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Right now

          4  community boards are advised prior to a building

          5  being demolished. Is that by regulation, policy,

          6  statute?

          7                 MR. KRAMER: You are saying the

          8  community boards are? All I can tell you is that I

          9  am not familiar with any requirement in the building

         10  code or in the Building Department regulations that

         11  would affirmatively grant the community board's

         12  notice. The answer is I don't know the answer to

         13  your question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I think it is a

         15  positive thing. But I do know as a former district

         16  manager whenever a building was demolished, I did

         17  receive a notification from the demolition company,

         18  but it was copied to the Buildings Department. Maybe

         19  that's an opportunity for us to talk about that

         20  process. But I think it was a good process. The

         21  other thing you post on the internet everyday to the

         22  BIS system notices of demolition and Alteration 1

         23  permits.

         24                 MR. KRAMER: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: This was
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          2  continue? It will be this notice and there will be

          3  that continued transparency, whatever you call it.

          4                 MR. KRAMER: Yes, our goal is, as you

          5  know, increased transparency and what I think is

          6  important and as you know in the Bronx, we have

          7  already started the program of scanning the

          8  documents associated with an application and putting

          9  them on the web so that you can become familiar with

         10  the details of the application as soon as it is

         11  filed and the application proceeds the permit.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You mentioned

         13  that the onerous would be on the individual filing

         14  to provide notice to the council person and the

         15  community board under your recommendation to alter

         16  the legislation.

         17                 MR. KRAMER: Under our recommendation,

         18  yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You would

         20  require a return receipt requested from the

         21  community board or councilman? What type of proof

         22  would you require of service?

         23                 MR. KRAMER: That would be one way to

         24  do it. That's perhaps a costly way. I mean in

         25  today's technology, there are perhaps other ways to
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          2  do it. The community boards might want to set up,

          3  excuse me for a moment. Perhaps we could discuss the

          4  community boards setting up an electronic mailbox to

          5  receive the notices that could be checked. There are

          6  many ways to do this that I think we could just

          7  discuss. I mean return receipt requested is costly

          8  and time consuming and paper intensive. I would try

          9  to come up with another way.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: If you have

         11  another way, that's fine. I just felt there should

         12  be a way. The State Liquor Authority when they

         13  advise community boards of liquor licenses, they use

         14  that return receipt requested. My only thing is I

         15  don't want there to be a gap where somebody says,

         16  oh, we didn't know, we didn't know. There has got to

         17  be proof that there was someone in the office that

         18  did receive that letter. If that was the notice

         19  that's required, that's the notice that was

         20  required.

         21                 MR. KRAMER: I think we can work on

         22  the details of how to make sure it is given. Last

         23  year, I think we processed some, if you include

         24  renewals of permits, I think something like 120,000

         25  building applications. I mean many of them for minor
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          2  work, but nevertheless, if you divide that among the

          3  number of community boards, it still comes to a very

          4  substantial number. I don't think any of us want the

          5  community boards to be inundated with spam what

          6  effectively just becomes static. There is just too

          7  noise and too much information being provided. What

          8  we want to do, I think, on something like this is

          9  try to set up a system where it is targeted

         10  information to a designated mailbox so that it just

         11  didn't get thrown out. Nobody wants to do that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I do say that

         13  the BIS system has been a gigantic step forward and

         14  has allowed a lot of us to see what is going on.

         15                 MR. KRAMER: I appreciate that. And

         16  the Commissioner, in particular, has really devoted

         17  a lot of resources to this. It is one of the very

         18  first initiatives that she has done and in addition

         19  she really has spent a great deal of effort in

         20  improving it over time. It started out as a

         21  wonderful thing with the enormous number of page

         22  hits and all they have done is grown and grown, the

         23  number of page hits has grown as we have put

         24  information up there. It was first the certificates

         25  of occupancy. We scanned hundreds of thousands of
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          2  certificates of occupancy and put them on the web.

          3  Our goal is to get zoning up there. We are going to

          4  have all the job applications scanned and put up

          5  there. All the violation and permit information is

          6  already there. It is growing. But it is a lot of

          7  work.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Thank you.

          9  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Current practice

         11  at DOB, when DOB receives an application to alter or

         12  demolish, are there any procedures or anything set

         13  up with and when it relates to rent regulated

         14  buildings and rent controlled units, is there any

         15  policy or any practice where the agency communicates

         16  with DHCR at all?

         17                 MR. KRAMER: No. It is not a direct

         18  link communication to DHCR. What we require is that

         19  the applicant, the two provisions of the building

         20  code that apply here are 27 and 168 and 27 and 142

         21  in which require the applicant to provide a

         22  statement to the Department. Perhaps I will just

         23  read it because it is really speaks for itself.

         24                 142B says, an application for

         25  approval of plans for the alterations of an existing
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          2  building or the construction of a new building shall

          3  be accompanied by a signed statement of the

          4  applicant certifying either 1, that the building to

          5  be altered or the site of the new building as the

          6  case may be contains no occupied housing

          7  accommodations subject to rent- control or 2, that

          8  the owner has notified the City Rent Agency which is

          9  DHCR of his intent or her intention to file such

         10  plans and is complied with all the requirements

         11  imposed by the regulations of such agency.

         12                 There is similar provision for

         13  demolition in 168. Essentially, that is the key is

         14  that the requirement that the applicant make that

         15  statement to us and as you say, because the document

         16  is scanned and recorded in the Buildings Department

         17  is a pretty good paper trail if a mistake has been

         18  made.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I think the goal

         20  of the bill is to kind of create a coordinated

         21  approach because not every owner is going to use

         22  this to remove tenants. Some owners are legitimately

         23  going to come in and they are going to do the

         24  demolition work and they are going to do exactly

         25  what you plan. But what happens in the instance when
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          2  a person comes in and buys a building and then they

          3  demolish because they want to get these tenants out,

          4  they are not going to be frank. They are going to

          5  use the loop hole for a certain purpose and that is

          6  to just get those tenants out and there is no

          7  coordinated effort between DOB, the local electeds

          8  or the DHCR. I think that is what we are trying to

          9  achieve here.

         10                 I think the overall tone of things is

         11  a good one. But I just think mechanically on

         12  notification, we need to have more discussion with

         13  yourself and with the agency because I'm certainly

         14  not comfortable leaving it in the hands of a owner

         15  who may be disingenuous. Now there are a lot of

         16  owners that are going to go out there and do the

         17  right things. But this should go after and have

         18  provisions in there that target the guys that are

         19  going to use this just solely for the purposes of

         20  evicting tenants. I think that more coordination

         21  needs to be done.

         22                 If this bill were to be passed in its

         23  current form, do you anticipate that DOB can perform

         24  this function with its current staff or will

         25  additional resources be needed?
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          2                 MR. KRAMER: If we were to try to take

          3  on the burden of notifying the electeds and

          4  community boards, then we would definitely need some

          5  additional staff.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Additional staff.

          7                 MR. KRAMER: By the way, I just did

          8  want to refer you because when we got this bill, I

          9  did do a little bit of research because the rent-

         10  stabilization and control are not really within the

         11  direct jurisdiction of the Department of Buildings.

         12  I do want to refer you or your staff to the New York

         13  City website of the rent guidelines board which has

         14  an excellent explanation of the conversion and

         15  demolition.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Maybe I will check

         17  that. But obviously when anyone in the City wants to

         18  demolish, yours is the agency that people turn too.

         19  We are just looking to tighten up coordination

         20  efforts and I think that is the goal of the sponsor

         21  in this bill and we certainly would like the

         22  cooperation of the Buildings Department as we

         23  proceed. Do any of my colleagues have anything else

         24  that they would like to add? I have to acknowledge

         25  that we have been joined by Council Member Thomas
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          2  White from Queens. Council Member White, do you have

          3  a question?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes, thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman. I'm chairing a meeting over across the

          6  street, the Economic Development hearing along with

          7  the Committee on Technology. But I did want to come

          8  over and I have in my district, we're talking about

          9  I'm very dissatisfied with the Department of

         10  Buildings. I'm very, very, very dissatisfied with

         11  checks and balances, reporting and things of that

         12  nature. I will give you an example. One, the common

         13  lines that homes have where if one is clogged up, it

         14  affects the other five and of course, the

         15  homeowners, $3 to $5,000 a piece to get repaired.

         16                 I think that, Mr. Chairman, we should

         17  take a look at that if that hasn't been on the

         18  legislation and should we pass that all future

         19  homeowner buildings that are built have stand alone

         20  systems going to the main line in the street, even

         21  with affordable homes. Because I have checked and

         22  there is a gentlemen who has a building and the

         23  building is 905 Crossbay Broad Channel, that's

         24  Building A, and 901 Crossbay Blvd. Broad Channel

         25  which I will identify as Building B. B, built and
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          2  encroached on the property of A, which caused it to

          3  lean on the walls of A and I understand it is eight

          4  inches encroachment on that property. There was a

          5  sign off by an inspector. That shouldn't have been.

          6  That property does not belong to B.

          7                 We look at the surveys and the only

          8  answers that we get is, what can we do about it?

          9  That is not a satisfactory answer. I just wanted to

         10  not deviate off the area, but I mean I don't

         11  understand that. That self- certification and all of

         12  that and these common lines, I mean, falls on the

         13  backs of people who are hard working or trying to

         14  own businesses or own homes and yet they are left

         15  with the burden of the self- certification, these

         16  common lines and it just doesn't make sense to me.

         17  Could you just answer that for me, please?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I think, Council

         19  Member, with respect, it is a little bit different.

         20  I think he is saying the burden of a demolition

         21  permit and notification should be done with the

         22  applicant, not the homeowner. I think their position

         23  is a little bit different as it relates to

         24  demolitions and Alt 1's. But I do think that your

         25  point is important. I have the same problem in my
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          2  district. As you know, we have discussed it. But I'm

          3  not certain that it is relevant to what the

          4  gentleman is here to speak on today.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I respect that.

          6  I do understand that. But I did want to reach his

          7  ears because it hadn't been dealt with and so I

          8  wanted to seize the opportunity because all of the

          9  other questions were asked. You are the Counsel,

         10  right? Sir?

         11                 MR. KRAMER: I'm the Senior Counsel.

         12  But I must say, I'm not familiar with the specific

         13  instances.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I know you are

         15  not. But we will talk?

         16                 MR. KRAMER: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Yes, I think that

         19  would be the best place to do and please forgive me

         20  for pointing that out.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you,

         24  Councilman White. Council Member Mendez for a follow

         25  up.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman. I agree with Chairman Dilan about leaving

          4  it all in the hands of the owner. And while my

          5  colleague, Council Member Vacca talked about how

          6  demolition companies notify the community board when

          7  they are about to demolish, I believe that that's

          8  when you are actually getting a demolition company.

          9  The problem has been that they are not really

         10  demolishing. Sometimes, they are doing renovations

         11  and if you just get a contractor to do a renovation,

         12  the community board would never know about it and we

         13  the Council people would not know about it unless a

         14  tenant informed us. That's why I think this

         15  legislation is important. But I think to put it all

         16  in the hands of the owner or the applicant leaves

         17  loop holes and leaves affordable housing at risk.

         18                 I think either requiring a proof of

         19  mailing is the least we can ask if we do it your

         20  way, but if not, I think it would be a minimal

         21  burden on the Department to notify the respective

         22  agencies and the elected officials. Currently, this

         23  legislation doesn't have penalties for failure to

         24  notify. Would the Department be supportive of any

         25  penalties that if we should and amend this
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          2  legislation to include penalties?

          3                 MR. KRAMER: Without having seen it,

          4  it is somewhat difficult to comment upon. But I

          5  think we would be supportive of it. And, of course,

          6  there are other provisions in the building code

          7  which do provide penalties for improperly submitting

          8  information to the Department. But we can certainly

          9  work with you on that and be glad to discuss that

         10  with you further.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: What I said

         12  about minimum burden, are you in disagreement that

         13  this would cause a big burden to the Department?

         14                 MR. KRAMER: Actually, I would because

         15  I think that it is important to understand what our

         16  processes are and in fact since the process itself

         17  is triggered by an application by an owner, by an

         18  applicant that although it is certainly possible

         19  that the application would not be accurate. I don't

         20  think I would want to start with the assumption that

         21  it is not going to be because particularly now that

         22  we have achieved this tremendous amount of

         23  transparency through b- scan where the PW1 form is

         24  actually going to be something anyone from the

         25  public can see to boldly state that no rent
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          2  regulated housing is involved, when in fact it is,

          3  would be a very risky thing for someone to do and

          4  say false application can come up with your building

          5  with to have to clear that kind of violation, to

          6  have to pay the fine associated with it.

          7                 Let's say it was signed by a licensee

          8  of the Department or the State, all the implications

          9  that would have for a false certification, I don't

         10  really think it is a useful way to start out with

         11  the assumption that they are going to do fraudulent

         12  filings. There always are going to be a certain

         13  number and there is going to be a certain number of

         14  mistakes, but the process of getting a permit is

         15  certainly one that I think we can make an assumption

         16  that once you are in the system, that these people

         17  are applying for permits and it is going to be that

         18  transparent, it is probably not a good assumption to

         19  make that on the whole there is going to be

         20  widespread evasion of that requirement.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Mr. Kramer,

         22  what burden, if any, would be placed on the

         23  Department if we asked that when they check off that

         24  box, they provide the proof of mailing with the

         25  statement or whatever?

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MR. KRAMER: It is another required

          3  item. If you speak to owners, some owners will tell

          4  you that our procedures are already burdensome

          5  enough and that there is a whole list of 127

          6  required items that we do provide for them on the

          7  web for them to check for each type of application

          8  versus another piece of paper which they will be

          9  required to file. It is not one that I do regard as

         10  unduly burdensome.

         11                 I would just try to do it in a way

         12  that allows for technology. I don't think the

         13  community boards want to be inundated with all of

         14  the applications and they might prefer to have it be

         15  provided for by e- mail. I think we should recognize

         16  that that is what one of the things that we observed

         17  when we began putting certificates of occupancy on

         18  the web. In the past, people would come in for

         19  certified copies of the certificate of occupancy.

         20  Now the banks prefer to check the one on the web

         21  because it can't be forged.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

         23  much. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. If

         25  there are no further questions from my colleagues,
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          2  Mr. Kramer, we would like to thank you for coming in

          3  this afternoon and providing testimony and I'm

          4  pretty certain the Committee will be reaching out to

          5  yourself and the DOB staff about this matter very

          6  shortly.

          7                 MR. KRAMER: You're very welcome and

          8  thank you for the opportunity to discuss this.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. I also

         10  want to acknowledge the presence of Council Member

         11  Leroy Comrie of Queens who has joined us. Next, I

         12  would like to call up, Mr. Gregory Brender from

         13  Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer's office

         14  as well as Bess Matassa from Assembly Member Glick's

         15  office and I'd also like to note for the record that

         16  the Committee has received testimony in support of

         17  340 from State Senator Thomas Duane.

         18                 MR. BRENDER: Good afternoon. I'm

         19  testifying on behalf of Manhattan Borough President,

         20  Scott Stringer. Good afternoon. Thank you, Chairman

         21  Dilan, members of the Housing and Building Committee

         22  for the opportunity to testify today in support of

         23  Council Member Rosie Mendez Intro 340.

         24                 As we are all aware, New York City is

         25  in the midst --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I have to stop you

          3  because you do have to identify yourself and then

          4  you can continue.

          5                 MR. BRENDER: Oh, sorry. My name is

          6  Gregory Brender. I'm here testifying on behalf of

          7  Manhattan Borough President, Scott Stringer. Good

          8  afternoon. Thank you Chairman Dilan, members of the

          9  Housing and Building Committee for the opportunity

         10  to testify today in support of Council Member

         11  Mendez's Intro 340.

         12                 As we are all aware, New York City is

         13  in the midst of an affordable housing crisis. Rent

         14  regulation, long the bulwark of our affordable

         15  housing stock, is being rapidly destroyed by vacancy

         16  decontrol, phony demolitions and a number of other

         17  mechanisms meant to remove residents in need of

         18  affordable housing from their homes and

         19  neighborhoods.

         20                 In 2006, alone, we lost nearly 14,000

         21  units of rent- regulated housing. This must stop.

         22  Alerting community boards and elected officials when

         23  a landlord states an intention to remove rent-

         24  regulated tenants due to demolition, as proposed in

         25  Intro 340, will help stem the loss of rent-
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          2  regulated housing from false claims of demolition or

          3  phony demolitions.

          4                 It is unfortunate that Intro 340 is

          5  even necessary. Section 2524.5(a)(2) of the Rent

          6  Stabilization Code once required that the owner

          7  established to the satisfaction of DHCR after

          8  hearing that he or she seeks in good faith to

          9  recover possession of the housing accommodations for

         10  the purpose of demolishing them and constructing a

         11  new building. Thanks, however, to the Pataki

         12  Administration, this provision was repealed and

         13  consequently, the rent stabilization code no longer

         14  contains any definition of demolition.

         15                 This creates a loophole that allows

         16  landlords to claim that substantial renovations are

         17  demolitions and are thus worthy of evicting rent-

         18  regulated tenants, including the elderly and the

         19  disabled. While I hope that the new Administration

         20  at the Division of Housing and Community Renewal

         21  will correct this loophole, by again defining

         22  demolition as the razing of a building in order to

         23  construct a new one, we must take action at the City

         24  level in the meantime.

         25                 In addition to the lack of definition
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          2  of demolition in the Rent Stabilization Code, the

          3  New York City Department of Buildings often does not

          4  inquire about the rent status of a unit before

          5  issuing permits for demolitions that may lead to

          6  evictions. Rather, DOB has reviewed the rent status

          7  of a unit as an ancillary issue over which it does

          8  not have purview. I strongly disagree with this

          9  policy.

         10                 DOB should not issue work permits

         11  which may result in the illegal eviction of rent-

         12  regulated tenants whether via phony demolition or

         13  any other means. I further believe that all work

         14  plans evaluated by DOB that may displace rent-

         15  regulated tenants should be reviewed in conjunction

         16  with DHCR and New York City's Department of Housing

         17  Preservation and Development.

         18                 If Intro 340 is enacted, the landlord

         19  will be required to check a box on DOB's demolition

         20  application which indicates that the landlord will

         21  seek permission from DHCR to remove a rent-

         22  regulated tenant. DOB will then be required to

         23  inform the local community board and Council Member

         24  of the applicant's intention.

         25                 Currently, the only recourse for
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          2  tenants facing evictions through phony demolitions,

          3  such as the tenants of 131 Duane Street in TriBeCa,

          4  345 and 515 East 5th Street on the Lowest East Side,

          5  329 West 22nd Street in Chelsea, and 253 Elizabeth

          6  Street in Little Italy, is through activism or

          7  through long and costly legal battles. Often,

          8  tenants have found much needed aid and support from

          9  their community boards and elected officials. For

         10  example, upon learning from tenants of a demolition

         11  application on East 5th Street, Community Board 3,

         12  which represents the Lower East Side, immediately

         13  put the issue on their agenda and passed a

         14  resolution in support of the tenants' fight for

         15  their homes.

         16                 Community Board 3, however, only

         17  learned of the impending evictions because the

         18  tenants had the foresight to ask them for

         19  assistance. There are undoubtedly numerous cases in

         20  which tenants facing illegal evictions do not know

         21  where to turn for help, or where community boards

         22  may be willing and able to help but are unaware of

         23  the issue. Intro 340 will ensure that community

         24  boards and elected officials are informed of the

         25  intended evictions and thus able to advocate on
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          2  their constituents behalf.

          3                 My office works closely with the 600

          4  members of Manhattan's 12 community boards and so I

          5  am able to say with assurance that in every

          6  neighborhood in the borough, community board members

          7  want to protect affordable housing, including rent-

          8  regulated housing. Intro 340 is one step in ensuring

          9  its preservation and therefore, I urge the City

         10  Council to enact Intro 340. Thank you again for the

         11  opportunity to testify.

         12                 MS. MATASSA: I'm Bess Matassa and I'm

         13  here to testify on behalf of Assemblymember Deborah

         14  Glick. First, I want to thank Chair Martin Dilan for

         15  holding a hearing on this very important and Council

         16  Member Mendez for introducing this bill and being a

         17  leader on the phony demolition issue. As the sponsor

         18  of Assembly legislation aimed to end this abuse, I

         19  firmly believe that phony demolitions represent one

         20  of the most dangerous threats to our rent- regulated

         21  housing stock that we have ever seen.

         22                 In fact, my office spearheaded

         23  correspondence to the Division of Hosing and

         24  Community Renewal about this threat and 37 of my

         25  colleagues in the State Legislature signed on to
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          2  express their concern about phony demolitions and

          3  other threats to the rent stabilization system,

          4  demonstrating the pervasiveness of this issue.

          5                 The demolition provision of the rent

          6  regulation law was intended to permit owners to

          7  remove tenants only to demolish old, dilapidated

          8  buildings and replace them with new safe housing.

          9  Instead, an increasing number of ill- intentioned

         10  landlords file phony demolition applications for

         11  structurally safe buildings in excellent condition.

         12  Their aim is to simply renovate the building,

         13  turning rent- regulated units into luxury housing,

         14  an extended stay hotel, or other higher- grossing

         15  ventures.

         16                 Over the past few years, I've seen an

         17  increasing number of phony demolitions in my

         18  district and have heard about many others in my

         19  colleagues districts. Tenants are understandably

         20  very scared and confused when they suddenly receive

         21  a notice from DHCR informing them that their lease

         22  will not be renewed because the owner of their

         23  building plans to demolish it.

         24                 They may not know that the owner may

         25  have filed for a phony demolition and by the time
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          2  they become suspicious or learn that they can

          3  challenge the application, it may be too late. This

          4  measure is an important step to immediately link

          5  tenants with the community board and City Council

          6  Members, each of whom may reach out to assist them

          7  in investigating whether the owner has filed a phony

          8  demolition application.

          9                 Many rent- regulated tenants are

         10  highly vulnerable because of age, health condition,

         11  limited income or a combination of these factors,

         12  while many building owners have substantial

         13  resources and access to legal assistance. This bill

         14  would help to level the playing field between

         15  building owners and tenants. I urge the City Council

         16  to pass this important measure into law. Thanks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thanks. I think at

         18  the end of the day some State action may also be

         19  needed. I'm sure that you might be hearing from

         20  Council Member Mendez. Do you know if the

         21  Assemblymember's bill has a Senate sponsor?

         22                 MS. MATASSA: It does not.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. Thank you.

         24  Next, I would like to call up Mr. Robert Desir from

         25  the Legal Aid Society; Mr. John Raskin from the
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          2  Housing Conservation Coordinators; and please

          3  forgive me if I pronounce the last name wrong, Steve

          4  Chabra from a Neighborhood Tenants Association. I

          5  won't put out the address, Mr. Chabra. When the

          6  light is off, the mic is on. You can begin in any

          7  order. Just identify yourself before you begin your

          8  testimony.

          9                 MR. DESIR: My name is Robert Desir. I

         10  am testifying on behalf of the Legal Aid Society. I

         11  thank this Committee for the opportunity to testify

         12  in support of this important proposed legislation.

         13  The Legal Aid Society Civil Practice is the nation's

         14  oldest and largest program providing direct legal

         15  services to the indigent. Offices throughout the

         16  five boroughs enable us to provide direct services

         17  to some 30,000 individuals annually. Where

         18  appropriate, we provide legal representation to

         19  groups of clients with common legal problems,

         20  including those referred by elected officials. Our

         21  various practice areas focus on enhancing family

         22  stability and security.

         23                 In like therefore, we come today to

         24  strongly support Council Member Mendez's efforts to

         25  protect the rights of rent- stabilized tenants. As

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  it stands, the Rent Stabilization Code's provisions

          3  regarding demolitions are being applied in a manner

          4  contrary to the public interest and its original

          5  purposes. The New York State Legislature enacted the

          6  so- called demolition provision with an eye towards

          7  ensuring safe and decent housing accommodations for

          8  all New Yorkers. It allowed owners to demolish old,

          9  decrepit and unsafe buildings and replace them with

         10  sound, secure housing.

         11                 Prior to the 2000 Rent Stabilization

         12  Code amendments, an owner seeking to demolish a

         13  building had to establish, to the satisfaction of

         14  DHCR, that he or she sought, in good faith, to

         15  recover possession of the housing accommodations for

         16  the purpose of demolishing them and constructing a

         17  new building. This, and the other adopted measures,

         18  ensured that owners would act in a manner consistent

         19  with the Code provision's purposes.

         20                 It was not intended to nurture

         21  questionable practices or facilitate disruption of

         22  protected tenancies. During the Pataki

         23  Administration, the law was amended to allow an

         24  owner seeking to demolish the building to demolish

         25  the building. The good faith requirement was
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          2  eliminated. The actual physical condition of the

          3  building became immaterial.

          4                 In addition, the definition of

          5  demolition was expanded to include any substantial

          6  rehabilitation of the building. And so, entire

          7  floors of a building can remain intact while an

          8  owner is said to be demolishing a building.

          9  Protected tenants, as a result, have become

         10  increasingly vulnerable to eviction as emboldened

         11  owners now use what originally was a tenant

         12  protection as a weapon against them.

         13                 Disturbingly, this distortion has

         14  encouraged owners to engage in various forms of

         15  harassment and take advantage where tenants have

         16  limited means and legal acumen. Clearly, this all

         17  undermines the purpose of the statute. Practices

         18  like this one that result in accommodations being

         19  removed from New York City's ever dwindling

         20  portfolio of affordable housing are matters of

         21  serious public concern, and should be carefully

         22  examined.

         23                 If enacted, Intro 340 would ensure

         24  that the public receives notice, through their

         25  elected representatives of impending applications to
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          2  demolish rent- regulated housing. The bill would

          3  require that an owner who intends to file an

          4  application with DHCR for permission to terminate

          5  the tenancy rights of rent stabilized or rent

          6  controlled tenants based on the demolition provision

          7  must indicate such an intent in writing on the

          8  application filed with DOB. Within five days of

          9  approving such an application, the DOB would be

         10  required to notify in writing the community board

         11  and the Council Member in whose respective district

         12  such housing accommodation in question is located.

         13                 After receiving notice of a proposed

         14  demolition of rent- regulation housing in their

         15  districts, elected officials could take necessary

         16  steps to ensure that the proposed demolition

         17  conforms to law and could notify and properly

         18  provide advise, assist, or give referrals to

         19  affected constituents. This is particularly

         20  important at the critical early stages where

         21  important rights are often surrendered, be it

         22  unwittingly, through fear or both.

         23                 Elected officials could therefore

         24  provide timely and important information to their

         25  constituents, and could be in a position to provide
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          2  effective constituent services. The notice

          3  requirements are minimal and place no additional

          4  burden on an owner. An owner who intends to act in

          5  conformity with the law should invite such scrutiny.

          6  Thank you for this opportunity to testify before

          7  this Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          9                 MR. RASKIN: Hi, my name is John

         10  Raskin. I'm here on behalf of my agency, Housing

         11  Conservation Coordinators. But today, I'm also

         12  delivering joint testimony on behalf of the Urban

         13  Justice Center, which is one of our colleagues in

         14  the Legal Services for the Working Poor coalition.

         15                 Both of our organizations, HCC and

         16  the Urban Justice Center provide legal services to

         17  low- income tenants. The Urban Justice Center

         18  specifically, their community development project

         19  which I am testifying on behalf of provides legal

         20  and technical assistance to not the tenants in the

         21  neighborhoods, but instead to community groups and

         22  institutions in low- income neighborhoods that can

         23  help build the community.

         24                 Both of our organizations in our

         25  legal work representing tenants have come across
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          2  this phony demolition problem. And we have come

          3  across tenants who are in buildings where the

          4  landlord has applied with DHCR to demolish the

          5  building, but upon closer inspection we have

          6  discovered it is actually a gut renovation or some

          7  other work that does not actually qualify as a

          8  demolition.

          9                 As Council Member Mendez said early

         10  today, just the very fact of applying for a

         11  demolition permit and applying with DHCR for a

         12  demolition is used to threaten tenants. Tenants get

         13  scared and they often take buy out offers or leave

         14  under conditions that normally they wouldn't leave

         15  under if they really understand the nature of what

         16  was being proposed and what their rights were.

         17                 The best way, in our experience, to

         18  fight fear is with information. This bill does a

         19  very good job of providing first the Department of

         20  Buildings and then in turn the local community board

         21  and the local Council Member with the information

         22  they need to work with the tenants and make sure the

         23  tenants understand their rights.

         24                 One of the most salient points for

         25  community groups like ours was brought up by the
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          2  Borough President and by Assemblymember Glick, which

          3  is that currently as the system is right now, the

          4  onerous is on the tenants to understand what is

          5  being proposed and understand that they should go

          6  seek the help of their local elected officials or

          7  community groups like ours. It is not fair to

          8  tenants and what that does functionally is give an

          9  advantage to landlords who have a great deal of

         10  money who can hire people to do all this work for

         11  them. The tenants usually don't have that

         12  opportunity.

         13                 In our experience, what works really

         14  well is when the community board or the local

         15  elected official or even community groups like us

         16  are notified directly when there is a problem. For

         17  example, in the Clinton special district which

         18  covers much of the area where we do legal services,

         19  when there is Alt 1 application or application for

         20  something like that, the landlord is required to get

         21  a certificate of no harassment and the word goes out

         22  directly to the community board and community groups

         23  like ours so we can approach the tenants and say, in

         24  your experiences, is there harassment. In your

         25  experience, what is the story in this building.
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          2                 That's something with demolition

          3  would be enormously valuable. If the information

          4  went out to the elected officials and community

          5  groups so we could actually approach the tenants and

          6  provide the sort of legal and organizing services

          7  that often the tenants end up needing. But right now

          8  the burden is on them to request. For all those

          9  reasons, I hope that the bill passes through the

         10  Committee and the Council and is put into law. Thank

         11  you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         13                 MR. CHABRA: Good afternoon. I'm Steve

         14  Chabra representing the 345 East 5th Street Tenants

         15  Association. I have lived in the East Village for 30

         16  years. One day last year, I opened my mailbox to

         17  find an envelope stuffed with official looking forms

         18  sent from a law firm I never heard of. One form said

         19  that our landlord had decided to demolish our

         20  building so he was entitled to evict everyone. But

         21  another form said he was just going to combine the

         22  14 apartments into seven and not demolish anything.

         23  Down the rabbit hole we went.

         24                 Demolishing a building is hard work.

         25  It takes time and money and sweat. But the phony
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          2  demo gives landlords a fast track to evict tenants

          3  of legal tenure who have done nothing wrong and

          4  convert their affordable rent- regulated apartments

          5  into expensive deregulated market rate rentals.

          6  Nothing gets demolished and the affordable

          7  apartments are gone forever.

          8                 I have seen the plans for our

          9  building. The four studios on the ground floor will

         10  be converted into two duplexes built into the

         11  basement. The ten railroad flats will become five

         12  full floor apartments with living rooms, family

         13  rooms, libraries, two bedrooms, three full baths,

         14  nine rooms including kitchens. The top floor

         15  apartment will have sky lights and exclusive access

         16  to a roof deck. There will be balconies too.

         17                 Now how much could these high jacked

         18  apartments rent for? As an example today, our

         19  landlord has listed a two bedroom, two bath on

         20  Avenue B for $3,995 a month. Call it $48,000 a year.

         21  That's a decent salary for many New Yorkers and we

         22  tenants who would be evicted can't afford that rent.

         23  We are tenants of legal tenure, but in the battle to

         24  save our homes, we have been forced to hire

         25  attorneys to navigate the bleak and incomprehensible
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          2  bureaucratic mazes of HPD, DHCR, DOB and ECB.

          3                 In the last year and half, we have

          4  spent $25,000 of our savings and there is no end in

          5  sight. We have done nothing wrong, yet we have been

          6  pushed into housing court to defend ourselves only

          7  to be faced with the cruelly ironic backlash of

          8  ending up on the tenants black list. This is our

          9  reward for fighting for our homes. If we lose, we

         10  never again will be able to rent an apartment in New

         11  York City. We need you to pass Intro 340. It won't

         12  abolish phony demos, but it will allow each district

         13  to keep track of them and monitor their process.

         14  Intro 340 does what it can, but it is not enough.

         15                 We need the Council to vote yes on

         16  Resolution 1035, 2007 abolishing the tenants black

         17  list to again and repeatedly oppose the Urstadt laws

         18  and develop a plan to fund the Administration of New

         19  York City's housing policies, to create legislation

         20  replacing the Mayor's power of appointment to the

         21  rent guidelines board with a transparent election

         22  process. To create legislation and programs to

         23  preserve existing affordable housing and to pressure

         24  our Mayor to support preservation. To create

         25  programs that support tenants who lose their homes
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          2  through no fault of their own. To do everything you

          3  possibly can to support Assemblymember Glick's bill,

          4  A5742 which will eliminate the phony demolition

          5  weapon.

          6                 The tenants of New York City are

          7  under attack and we need your help to fight back.

          8  Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Any

         10  questions?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair. First I would like to thank Steve Chabra for

         13  coming here and testifying. I know it is impetus for

         14  this legislation, the work that we have been done

         15  with you and other similarly situated tenants, many

         16  of your neighborhoods as our communities become more

         17  attractive, it is the people that have been there

         18  the longest who are under attack. Thank you for

         19  being here.

         20                 My question is for the Legal Services

         21  providers. How many instances and how many times do

         22  you see tenants like Steve coming into your office

         23  now?

         24                 MR. DESIR: Well, my experience in

         25  this office, we haven't seen that as of yet. I'm

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  fairly new in the office. But having worked in

          3  Queens, I did encounter this with some tenants. Not

          4  to the point of landlords doing anything official,

          5  but definitely using it as a scare tactic to have

          6  tenants move from buildings prematurely without any

          7  investigation out of fear before having had an

          8  opportunity to find out what their rights are and

          9  what options they have.

         10                 MR. RASKIN: I can speak on behalf of

         11  HCC. On the West Side, we have only had a few cases

         12  so far. A couple of which has been well publicized.

         13  But the thing that we are actually worried about for

         14  the most part is what sort of precedent those cases

         15  set and where this is going from here. One thing we

         16  have discovered especially in our work against

         17  illegal hotels in our neighborhood over all,

         18  especially Manhattan, is that when you find a loop

         19  hole in these laws, word spreads very quickly among

         20  the landlord bar.

         21                 When there is a way that you can get

         22  rid of rent- stabilized tenants, when there is a way

         23  you can get rid of rent- controlled tenants, if it

         24  works in one case or if it works in a couple of

         25  cases, all of a sudden everyone over the City
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          2  understands that that works and knows what they can

          3  do. I think we are not there yet with this

          4  situation. I think there is a lot that hasn't been

          5  sussed out in the law and I think that thanks to

          6  some attention shown, DHCR is starting to change its

          7  tune about what's going on.

          8                 That said, if we don't do anything

          9  about it in this case, I think this bill is a solid

         10  step forward and of course it will take action on

         11  the State level. But what I'm actually worried about

         12  is not a lot of cases that we have seen so far, but

         13  will happen if we don't do something about it now

         14  such that it could spread and start happening in

         15  many more instances.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: This is more

         17  of a recent phenomenon. Is that correct?

         18                 MR. RASKIN: Yes, in our experience it

         19  is.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: The

         21  legislation at this point would be precedent setting

         22  because it would not allow this to continue to

         23  happen on a larger scale, in your opinion.

         24                 MR. RASKIN: Yes, I think this

         25  legislation has kind of a unique opportunity to be
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          2  preemptive. Usually when we evaluate legislation, it

          3  is because the problem has been going on for years

          4  and it took us a long time to respond. But in this

          5  case, I think it was a relatively quick response.

          6  But it does depend on this legislation and also

          7  related legislation and policy changes at the State

          8  level.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you. I

         10  want to thank the panel for their testimony. Thank

         11  you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Next I

         13  will call up Eva Rippeteau from Senator Connor's

         14  office. It looks like an "n". I'm sorry. It is a "u"

         15  at the end, not an n.

         16                 MS. RIPPETEAU: I apologize.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I thought it was

         18  an "n". Sorry about that.

         19                 MR. RIPPETEAU: That's all right. I'm

         20  here on behalf of State Senator Martin Connor. I

         21  would like to thank you, Chair Dilan, for presiding

         22  over this Council Member Mendez for introducing this

         23  legislation. Thank you for hearing testimony on a

         24  very real and pressing issue in New York City of

         25  phony demolitions.
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          2                 The Division of Community and Housing

          3  Renewal is currently making an effort to reform some

          4  policies that have, through manipulative

          5  interpretations, allowed for the deregulation of

          6  many rent- controlled and rent- stabilized units to

          7  be converted into market rate housing. The City of

          8  New York has experienced a mass exodus of rent-

          9  regulated apartments since these loop holes have

         10  been discovered. It is time to put a stop to these

         11  practices and I thank Council Member Mendez and her

         12  Council co- sponsors for the introduction of this

         13  legislation.

         14                 The original intention of the

         15  demolition provision of the DHCR was to allow for

         16  owners to receive official permission to remove

         17  tenants in the event of unstable living conditions

         18  to the point of danger. If a building is officially

         19  deemed unsafe, owners are able to file a demolition

         20  application with the DHCR to essentially evict

         21  tenants while they demolish the unsafe building to

         22  make way for a new one.

         23                 In the 25th Senate district and

         24  across the City, landlords have evicted tenants for

         25  the purpose of demolition, then turned around and
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          2  rehabilitated the building, combined its now

          3  deregulated units into half the original units and

          4  then rented the new units for market rate rent. In

          5  other words, no demolition took place, the

          6  allegations of an unsafe or unstable building were

          7  fabricated or completely stretched to the point for

          8  the need of demolition and rent- regulated tenants

          9  were either harassed into accepting a buyout or

         10  wrongfully evicted.

         11                 This practice is reprehensible and

         12  must stop. Council Member Mendez' legislation will

         13  provide for the notification of the community board

         14  and local City Council Members as landlords apply

         15  for the demolition of their building. This

         16  legislation will provide greater notice and

         17  transparency to the demolition process, so that

         18  landlords are held more accountable to their tenants

         19  and are unable to evict them under false pretenses.

         20                 I join and applaud, Governor Spitzer

         21  and the new DHCR Commissioner Deborah VanAmerongen

         22  for taking steps in the right direction to reform

         23  the DHCR, and I feel encouraged by the DHCR's

         24  interest in supporting this bill. I support this

         25  legislation and urge the City Council to do the
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          2  same. Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you very

          4  much. Any questions? Thank you. The final witness of

          5  the Committee we will hear from today will be Mr.

          6  Dan Peckham. You can correct me on the record.

          7                 MR. PECKHAM: Hi. My name is Dan

          8  Peckham. I live at 244 West 21st Street, Apt. 4B. It

          9  is a rent- stabilized building. There are eight

         10  units. I am the only person left and I have lived

         11  there by myself for three and half years being

         12  terrorized by the landlord. I did file an harassment

         13  complaint with the DHCR and they did not find

         14  harassment. I organized the buildings next to me,

         15  same landlord. They were able to go through the HPD

         16  and harassment was found. Only after they were

         17  harassed by the court, at oath they removed all the

         18  elected representatives aides and they told the

         19  tenants essentially before they would have a hearing

         20  that this was the landlord's offer. You better take

         21  this. When they refused, then they were granted a

         22  hearing.

         23                 I notified Christine Quinn in person

         24  at a meeting on 20th Street between 7th and 8th at

         25  that HIV Building. She was talking about the rail
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          2  yards thing. I told her about my landlord then. I

          3  have contacted the office many times since then and

          4  she has done nothing. She did have her second aide,

          5  Jose Fernandez would refuse to do anything. He said

          6  the landlords have all the money. They win, give it

          7  up. And don't quote me. Then they had Jose Condie

          8  (phonetic), he called the HPD once for me. Although,

          9  there were numerous times of harassment by the HPD

         10  including by their staff and also -- I can't think

         11  about it now.

         12                 It is really too much. It is

         13  corruption everywhere. DHCR, HPD, DOB, if you say

         14  corrupt, then you are crazy. Everybody knows it is

         15  going on. I have evidence. Duane's office who has

         16  done a lot had a press conference in front of my

         17  house who called in the DA Kaufman (phonetic) and he

         18  wouldn't even look at the evidence. We had four

         19  buildings in there. People from four different

         20  buildings telling about this landlord including the

         21  lawyer from HCC. He wouldn't do anything.

         22                 In summary, to check off a box in an

         23  application and besides that, the landlord told the

         24  DOB when he applied for his construction permit that

         25  the building was empty and I had to go down. I wrote
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          2  return receipt letters to Laura Sarro (phonetic). I

          3  went down and talked to her twice and her

          4  assistance, Kandel LaHara (phonetic), something like

          5  that. Finally, only to Gottfried's office, Eillina

          6  Keisier (phonetic) would they do anything and then

          7  the fine was $250.00. All of this, I am living in

          8  construction, demolishing the building. The whole

          9  building is demolished around me. They took out the

         10  fire proofing. I called the DOB about it.

         11                 They would send inspectors. The doors

         12  are wide open front to back saying that they can't

         13  get in. I called back and said, the doors are open,

         14  his superior, front to back. I was frozen out in the

         15  winter. The pipes froze. I had no water because the

         16  doors were open front to back and the DOB says they

         17  can't get in. It is one thing after the other. I

         18  have files this thick of corruption and nobody wants

         19  to hear it. Nobody wants to see it and nobody

         20  follows through on it. If checking a box seems to

         21  help, I'm for it. That's all I can say.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Before

         23  I conclude, I also have to acknowledge that the

         24  Committee has received testimony from the Community

         25  Housing Improvement Program for the record in
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          2  opposition. Before I conclude, Intro 340 of 2006

          3  will be laid over and with that this Committee is

          4  adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:32 p.m.)

          6

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            66

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 10th day of October 2007.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          LORI SANTOMIERI

                                                            67

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              LORI SANTOMIERI

         23

         24

         25

